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THE H1STORY 0 F

’ DOUGLASS CENTER ’

FROM REQUEST T O REALITY

REFLECTIONS

Kesearching the (unrecorded) hastory of btacks and
theirn many contributions to the coveralt development of thedir
communities 4is no easy task. Likewase, ungolding the mysteries
contradictions, and interpretations that ctouded the assues, the
establishment o4 the FREDERICK DOUGLASS COMMUNITY RECREATION
CENTER, proved to be a much more difficult zask than 1 nhad
assumed when I agreed o tackle thas project.

Forzunateky, DOUGLASS CENTERS' roots are not as deeply

‘ imbedded 4in the past as are other monuments An thas brlack %k

community. Some &4 the foiks who were instrumental in The
initial negotiations and subsequenit construction of the "originar"
DUUGLASS CENTEK are stLLt among us. Utherns, not as directly
invotved, but aware of the obstackes and cirncumstances Linvolved
n acquining the centern, werne able to recall many o4 the
situations that were faced an the sztruggle for a "colored
senvicemen's centern.’”

A portion of the informateon presented here 44 based on

vhacts™ that were "passed down” jrom one generation to The next.
iI'm neffernang specifically to the sons and daughters of parents
who were actively involved in the creation of the "original'
DAQUGLASS CENTER.

T offen a "specdal” thanks zo Mras. Briagewaten for Lhe

wse of hen treasuned schap book, without Lt DOUGLASS CENTER would
52400 be a mystery cf fhe past To ocun generation. Apprecdalion
must also be extended to those wno nepresent the hastory of

’ DOUGLASS CENTER, and to those who wilf eventually make DOUGLASS C'q
a part of thedlr histonry. ;
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A COMMUNITY CENTER: WHO NEEDED IT?

To betten undenstand the nisrtory of DOUGLASS CENTER,
how and why Lt was concedived, one needs to be neminded of the
times that prevasled, one should also be aware of ZLhe cinaumétanaeéé
that werne faced, and khnowledgeabte o4 the Lindividuals who made
the request fon a communaty centen a reality.

It was in the earnly 1940's, during World Warn I1 that a
group of conceaned individuats, representative of the "entine”
Champaign-urbana black community began the inaitial tnhnrusit foir
the construction of a community center.

Not onfy were fthe armed fornces segregated, but s0 wenre
necheationat programs and facilities an fhne Champaign-urbana
community. Even Zhough brack G.I.'s commufed o the Champaign-
Urnbana area {for Ltheirn socdal and hecheaXion endeavorns, nol
atl milirany pensonnet deemed the Lhap as necessary. In response
to the nequest for a colored senvicemen's centen beang ernected d
in the twin cdzties, Major E.F.Resek, 4in charge of atf recheatronal
facitditees at Chanute Fiekd expressed a "near need” forn such a
centen An the communaly, although "adequate necheational
facilities had been provided for colored men at Chanute Fiekd.”

Federal funds provided an part by the U.S.0. had allfowed
some recrneational proghramming to be carried ocut an othen

Locatrons praoh o the cenfters' construcxtion, among Lthose were:
The Amendcan Legion Post #559,tocated on FLfth Streer between
Eurneka and Tremont sitreets. Programs werne atso conducted 4n a
two-story house, owned by the Patternson Family, on the 500 block
of East Trnemont sitrneet. But Lt was Ain the basement of the
Lawhead Schoot bualding that everything came to a head. Satuated
on the nonthwest cornen o4 Fafth & Grove streets, thas building

housed alk necheational activdiidies fon Local blacks and numerous

black servicemen stationed at nearby Chanute Ain Force Base. None
05 Lhe establisnments were consadened "sustable §0x adequate
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necneational programming' and prompfed blacks 4n the anrea

to hequest a Largen and more accesible facilaty. Programs at

Lawhead School had been unden the dinection of Mas. Bufonrd,

Mas. Waklace, Mas Eama Bradgewater, and Mas. Paulane (Wood) Johnson.

The {otlowing Lettern was wiiiten in 1943:
"To Whom It May Concean:

We the Negro Servicemen's Onganization composed 04 cLviLLans
of Champaign and Urband, [02anois, nepresenting the entire
Negro population, request that consideration be given to The
enection of a building to ve used as a Senvicemen's Center 4An

oun community as the present facilaties are inadequate.

At present a Servicement's Centelr 44 being oprerated 1n the
basement o4 the Lawhead Schook, Champaign, LLLinoas, 4n Iwo
rooms, twenty-two by twenty-fLve cach, by the Champatgn PLayground

and Recreation Boand. Thas Senvice Center was opened on Marnch 26,
1943, with an atrtendance £o date of §,000 senvice men and hOAteése{.
to bring the total attendance o 17,500, an average of 2,500 pen
month. In such a small amount of spaze Lt can neadily be seen
that the {acilities are inadequate To carry on & successpul and
complete proghram, therefohre we are nequesting that a buitdding

o4 suitable proportions be ehected fon such a purpose. We wiLl do
all within our power to promote and assast Ln any movement fthat
might be taken 4An securing said bucldeng.” T1x was sdigned by:
Raymond M. Scoxt, Pres., Cooil U. Netfson, Chas. Peitefond Homer
Chavis, and Atvin Foxwell.

BLACK LEADERSHIP & WHITE SUPPORT

Spearheading the draive f0n acquiiing a new hecireationak
center, several black community Poadens solicited suppoil grom
vocal white businesses and social senvice agencies Lo joan fhem
in thein cause. Among the §inst to nespond was the Home and Was
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Chest Onganization. txecutive Secretany, Lyle Gatlivan alded in the
development and formulation of a "Cooperative Pran." This document contained
approximated costs for construction and specified the nesponsibilfities of
each of the parties anvolved in regards to the amount of funds to be raised
by each.

Total cost of the new servicemen's center was approximated at $37,000.
1t was anticipated that $1§,500 would be requested grom the Federal Government,
and the batance, $14,100, woukd be ratsed Locally. A portion o4 the Local
share would include an alrotment of $2,500 from the Home and War Chest, and an
expenditure of $3,500 from the Champaign City Kecheational Vepartment. The
remaining porntion of the Local share was to be rawse by Negho Leaderns and
thein consititutents.

"Based on a plan of community cooperation, an application gon federal
assistance in constructing a Champaign-Urbana recreational center §oi colored
senvicemen will be submitted to the Federal Works Agency early next week. The
application proposes a $32,000 project and request thar the federal government
fwinish $18,500. 1t was submitted in the name of the city 04 Champaign, signed
by Commissioner Koger E. Zombro, meyor pho-Zem, who said Lt had the approval
04 alt councad members." This artticle appeared an the Champaign News Gazetfe,
on September 4, 1943, but it was not the st attempi by the Locar citizenry
to acquire 4ederal funds forn the profeck.

TO BE OR NOT TO BE---THAT CREATED PROBLEMS

Porhaps it was Commissioner Zombro who cast the st shadow o4 doubt on
the possible comstruction of the senvicemen's centern when he remarnked, "The rhofe
deal is 0ff 4if the community ails to raise Lts shate 04 the cost." However,
it was the prume funding agency that caused the greatest concesn. In 1942 and 43,
the Federal Wonks Agency denied the citys applications §or funding for the "Negro
Senvicemen's Center.” In an article pubfished in the Champaign-Urbana Cowrcen
on Thwwsday, November 30, 1944, «t srated that the Federal Works Agency had
nefused to grant the necessary gunds on the grounds thatr there was an Uinsuffielent

number of cokored soldiens and sakons stationed in the area to Justify the expense.

o




Thursday, November 30, 1944

Chest May Make
s st 0 915,000 G111t to

prove Grant From Sur-

plus Funds. Colored Center

Headlines appearing 4in Local newspaper. (Page 5)

s adr (R _ :
PROPUGED KREGHRO SERVICEMENS

Architects drawing of the "Oniginal" center. (Page 5)

CENTRM CHAMPAIGH,

fLLifNGls
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COLURED CITIZENS TO MEET FKIDAY

Maintaning a sthong committment to the eventual construction of a
commuwity center, dedicated individuals and groups continued To faght fon
the facility. A meeting of atl "colored citizens of Champaign-Urbana®” was
hetd to discuss possible fund raising projects for the proposed center. "The
meeting wilk take pkace at 7:30 pm, Friday, at the C.M.E.Chuurch, Fifth and
Themont stheets. The meeting 45 sponsocred by the Cotored Servicemen's Organczation.'
Anothen banner headline read: ASSUKE UKBANA DONATION FOR NEw CENTEK. The
Unbana Chamber of Commeice had agheed to contrlbute a donation of $2,000 Zo the
exusting fund. CHEST MAY MAKE GIFT OF $15,000 TO COLUREV CENTER, nread anothet.
Indeviduaks who had subsciibed to the Home and War Chest Fund were asked zo
give thewn approval for donating a surplus of $15,000 to the committee for Douglass.
ALL subscribens to the chest fund were mailed retuwnabie post cards and asked to
indicate on the carnd, whether on not they would obfect to such a gi4t being
donated to the charitabre cause.

PERSERVERANCE PAYS OFF

A major break through! The Chiecage Reglonar Office of the Federat Worhks
Agency approved the $18,500 federal grant for the Negro Community center. The
application was then fowwarded to Washington D.C. for final approval, a mere
formanity, Lt was called. However, due to the "cutical materials” Linvolved 4n
the construction of the profect, and the fact that it had to be hregarded as a
"mlitany projeck,” ganak approval nad ro come from the War Department. Many
advocates fon the centern considered thas to be the biggest hurdle fo Zo overcome,
as Land for the anticipated center had been purchased previously by Local blacks.
Sctuated on the North-east corner of Figth and Grove Streets were wo vacant Lots,
awalting the comstruction of the Negho Scrvacemen's Centen.

The budlding conthact was awarded fo E.N. DeAirey, architects for the profect
were Berger and Ketly Associates.

SRR
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Memberns of Servicemen's Committee, Champaign Recreational Councik,
and the finst directon of the center. (Page 6)
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GROUND BROKEN FOR NEGRO CUMMUNITY CENTER @

The pomp and ceremeny that occuwvried at the imtial ghound breakring
festivities were considered to be the "consumation of the community's Long-
cherndished hope for a Negho community centern." Among those who were in atrendance ‘
and recognized for Their contrubutions to the project were: Mayor George Babb(Urbana),
Dn. D.L. Dafgay, Vr. H.D. ELedis, Richand Eawards, Sergeant George tvans, who |
cerremonious Ly broke zthe ground and was presented the shovel as a souvemur. Also
present were Atvin Foxwetl, Lyle H. Galiivan, Mws. L.T. Gregory, Mayon Geonge F.
Hurnd (Champaign), Dekores Huxtable, Isaac Kuhn, A.H. Lybynen, Cecid Netson,

Ray Scotr, and Royal A. Stipes Jn. The ceremony was attended by approximately
130 members of the community.

A LEGEND BEGINS

To attempt to mention tne vailous activities that the centern has faciiitated
oven the years would be Ampossible. 1t wowtd be fatal also Zo estimate the
numben of children and adukts rhe centen has served. May At sufglce Zo say that
the "orniganak” DUUGLASS CENTER served three generations and housed activities
rnangding from kbandergarten to Senior Citizens, ghom tneatrnical performances IO
community meetings, and from rollen skaring to basketbalt. In essence, DOUGLASS
CENTER was the heart of tne brack community fornearly 31 years.

Since opening Lts doors An 1945, zen men and one woman have served as
durectons and darectorness of the facikity. The reigning indiveduals and the
approximated yearns Lin which they served are: Taylor Thomas (1945-4§), Ernest
Netson (1948-50), James Jones (1950-52), Lee Carey [(1952-54), bPaur Hwwey (1954-60),
Erma Brldgewatern (1961-63), Augustus Wixliams (1963-65), Booker Ford (1966-69),
Edgar McKnight (1969-72), Percy Goadon (1972), Nathaniet Dixon (1972-present).

3
|
1

§

MOVING ON UP

The physicak appearance of the "orniginak" centern changed sLightiy with
the addition of the Hartwell C. Howell room. Named aftern the gentleman who donated
the funds fon the addition, the room was wsed for a smakl Library and heading room. ‘
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The room was added «n 1955

Another change that affected the operations at DOUGLASS CENTER occuwred
an 1967, when tne Champaign Recreation soard ceded the Champaign City Council
and became Ats own taxing body. The decision Zo sever economical ties with the
ety provided a rarger tax base for the newty formed park aistrict by alrowing
them to annex swirounding areas within the distnict. 1he park district was
also free to seek othen federal and siate funding agencies that they previously
could not without authorization from the city.

HARD TIMES

In Zhe med-1960's, a renewed thrust for a targer and more modern facility
began. The wear and tear on the "orniginak” centern had taken its toil and the
bullding was again ancapable of providing the necessany Apace and sthucture 4ok
the growing communizy.

In 1972, %he Champaign Park Dastrict won voter approval on a tax referendum
which authorized them Zo eithern make the necessary hepains to the center or
construct a new facilety. DOUGLASS CENIER, by now odd and diltapidated, given
L8t prlorndity, was scheduled to be rebudlt.

The protonged controversy that prevented immediate construction o4 Lne
"new" center was reminiscent of the early 1940's perhaps, but this was an
entinely new situation, that ar times became moie emotionatly involved than either
politically or economically, although each factor played a majon role in the
erection of the new DOUGLASS CENTER.

THE POWERS THAT BE

Not untike the construction of the "original" DOUGLASS CENTER in 1945,
the "new" center posed problems from the drawing board fo «ts eventual
constrwetion 4in 1976.

I was dwiing a period of extreme ingflation when The construction profect
was undertaken, consequentry, orniginal prans forn the proposed center were alrened,
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Concerned resdidents Listen to
proposal forn the "new" centen.

Zthe Steernd
(Page &)
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which was one of Zhe majorn concerns of rthe black community, primary userns of
the gacility. Among the deleted portions of the oniginal design were: a kitchen,
Lounge area, and an additionar wing that was to be attached ro the main facility
by a breeze way, and wsed prumarily by Senwcon Citizens. Also Lost in the
conmstruction profect was a ibrarny.
Neithnern the Champaign orn Unbana Public Librariens chose to contrnibute the
$30,000 cost fon including the Library space as part o4 the "new" center.
Emphasizing that the Champaign Park District could not meet the inglationary
cost of the initial pkans forn the center, tne board of commissioners considered
the atternative conmstruction plan as the only acceptable plan for consthuction.
BA-Centenniak Center, anotnesn new center under conmstruction duuing tnis
pesrod, was being completed and had not cost as much as orlginally assummed.- tnused
junds grom this project were trhansferred and wtiiized on the DOUGLASS CENIER project.
The alternative plan for consthuction of the centern Ancluded: a regulation-
sized gymuasium as the major feature, adjoiming resthoom and Locker room facilities.
Atso ancluded was a stage, bleacherns seating approximate 250 people were Located
@ on the south sdide of the gymnasium, a Large sforage area and mechanical hoom wekre
attached to the gym. The upstans porrcion Lincluded office areas, a Lobby and
an upstaiss gameroom.
Despite venbal obfections and physical confrontations pwisuant to the -u ..
consrruction of the "new’ center, authorization was given to anitiate construction
on the center, following guidelines establfished in the alternatwve plan.

THE STEERING COMMITTEE

In opposition to zhe park boards decision to erect an axternative facility,

; and in hopes of presenting some alternative solutions to the construction phofeckt,
a group of Local black Leaders formed a body known as the Steering Committee fon
Douglas Centen. ALthough there were differences in opindions as o what type of
comstruction would best sult the needs of the community, «+t was generaliy agheed
Zhat only three options were open to Znem. One was fo do nothang, meaning that
theu would attempt to physically sitop any type o4 construction short of building
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McCabes Construction Company
centen

Community hesidents picketing

old" (Page 9)
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a "complete” facility. Another of the chocces the committee fett possible was

40 buikd a "shell" orn a sample building with no funishings. It was ekt that

by buclding such a structwre, they would be etigible for other federat funding and
a complete facility coutd be built once funds were granted. A thind position

fhat was taken was to allow the construction of the center as pianned, pLovLding

it be erected 50 that additional wings courd be added once othen funds were secuwred.

PICKETS GO UP

Picketing of the English srothers Construction Company, general conthactons
fon tne comstruction project, and of the McCabe Consthuction Company, demofition
onew and sub-contractorns was initwated by the steering Commitiee.

T he issues wnvolved were: 1. [hey did not want tne "ofd" center toan down
until conchete plans were made to determine the futwre of VOUGLASS CENTER, 4n
negands to the "new gacility. 2. They dia not want consthuction to begin until
they had expressed zo the board, tnein desires 4in rnexationship to what the new
center should contain and the type of construction they pregeried. 3. Anoxchesr
isslUe Was a concern that a substantial percentage of blacks pe employed in all
phases of the construction project.

THE SHUW GOES ON

Meanwhile, amid the continuing controversy and preparations fon consrruction
of the "new" DOUGLASS CENTER, recreationat proghams were beang carried out at
othern facilities. Aftern school programs forn elementary aged youths were conducted
at the DOUGLASS ANNEX, high schoof and junton school aged youth participated An
activities held temporanity at Kinney Gymnasium on the Urbana-Champaign Campus .
Adult basketball proghams were held at Frankiin Juncon tighschook in Champasgn.

The fack of a neighborhood facitty and scattered programs rnesulted an a
reduction in progham participation in the Fall and Winter of 1975. 1T atso
indecated the pressing need for construction of sont Lo be completed.




-10A~

'\

Hononred guest, present pﬁnh district commissioness
attend nibbon cutting ceremony o4 the New centern 4in 1976.

(Page 10)
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THE FINAL ANALYSIS

Durning this period of uncertaunty, the Champaign City Council approved
a maforn request from the park board for funds to compiete rennovation of Zhe
DOUGLASS ANNEX. The additional $20,000 allowed complete remodeling o4 the
annex, including a new 100§ and bricks fon the outern perimetens of the formen
IGA grocery stone. The majonity of the Senion Citizens were satisgled with the
rnemodeling plans as they had chose not to be attached to the proposed "new"
centen. They chose rather to have thnein proghams conducted an Lhe separate
facility, adfacent to Zne "new" center. Furnashungs for the annex were made
possibke in part, by funds received grom the Champaign County Department on Agang.
As pickets were removed and most of the controversy subscded, the steering
commitiee had accepted the park boards decision to erect the alrernative gacility.
Une formen member of the steering committee was arviested aftfer construction had
began nowever, in an attempt fo prevent futher construction until more blacks were
hired on the construction profect. An outspoken cutic of the project since LLs
initiak conception, Roy Williams wanted 90% brack empLoyment on the consTruction
profect.

THE GRAND OPENING

There was a air of excitement as well as a feeling of neglect on The day
of the grand opening. No one would dare say that the "new" center was not a physical
{mprovement on the "odd" one, yer many expressed dissappointment that LT was not
a Largen facility than Lt was. _
300 on more persons hegistered rhein names in the guest book, many wete
either directly on indirectly involkved £n the construction profect for the "original”
DOUGLASS CENTER. Among the honoied guest were the wives, sons and daughters o
the members of the "Negho Servicemen's Center Vhganization." Formen directons
of DUUGLASS CENTER, cwwrent board memberns of the Champaign Park Vistrict and
rpent stafd membens of DOUGLASS CENTEK were tnere. Tne ocassion was attended by
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approximatedy 400 individuals. Among the honorned guests were: Dr. Lando Vifgay,

son of Un. Viffay, a member of the Negho Servicemen's Center Urganization, #i. Richard

Edwards, also a member of the organization, Mus. Saran Scott, wife o4 Raymond Scoit,

a member of the Servicemenis Ornganization, Udelia Westey, an original member of

the Servicemen's Onganczation. Champaign Park Board Commissionerns Mrs. Patiicia

Leonand, Don Bresnan, Kichard Helms, Dr. Morgan Powerl and Newton Dodds were atso

present. Fonmen park commissioner Seely Jonnston and former director of DOUGLASS

CENTER, Taylon Thomas were atso honored guest as was project architect, E. Hednick Crayl
Thes ocassion, not unlike the orniganak opening Ain 1945, signified the cuwtmination

0f a necessary and vital profect in the black community. After several months

of controversy, heated congrontations, and anxious anticipation, the "new" center

was officially opened for business once agawn on December 16, 1976.

QUESTIONS VET UNANSWERED

How Long wikl tne "new" center stand? WLl it adequatety serve Lhe growing
community, if 50, how Long will it amply meet thewr needs? Wall additional space
on extended wings ever be added to the existing facitity? 1s the community
concerned about the future of DOUGLASS CENTEK? Well the board be responsive?
These and other pertinent questions remain to be answered. unly time well Tell!

TF WALLS COULD TALK

The onriginal center sxood fon nearly 31 years before tne "new" center was
buwilt, whech marked another chaptern in the histony of the FKEDERICK DOUGLASS
COMMUNITY CENIER. Duiing the dedication ceremonies of The "oruginal' center An
1945, one o4 the speakers remarked, "We nope that this pacility will serve Lhe
community in many ways, ot years to come." That prophecy has been fulfclled.
Since its initeal construction, DOUGLASS CENTER has been, and continues 1o be,
the putse of the brack community.

14 warls courd talk, they might say, "Sztanding staunch and rigdid, despite
the sitness and strhain | had seen over the years, | touched you Lwves, as you have
touched mine. T wait now in the datkness for youwr sons and daughters.







